BRIEF OF APPELLANT*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUL 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Harold Estes Blackwell, Jr..... Appellant

Toby Woodard..... Respondent

Case No. 2017-002618

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

DID THE COURT ERR IN HOLDING APPELLANT TO THE SAME PLEADING STANDARD AS THAT OF AN ATTORNEY?

DID THE COURT ERR BY USING RULE 12(C) AS THE LEGALS STANDARD?.....

DID THE COURT ADHERE TO CANNON 3 OF THE JUDICIAL CODE OF CONDUCT IN DECIDING THE MATTERS FOR IT IN THIS CASE?

DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT HAD NO DUTY OF CARE TO APPELLANT?

DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DEICRETION IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR OUTRAGE?

DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DESCRETION IN FINDING APPELLANT WAS GUILTY OF STALKING ANITA JANE MILLER?

DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THE ALLEGED DEFAMATORY PUBLICATIONS OF RESPONDENT ARE EQUIVOCAL TO "ANNOYANCE THAT OCCUR IN EVERYDAY LIFE"?

DID THE COURT ERR IN CONSIDERING THE PROPOSED AMENDED COMPLAINT IS CONTROLLING?

DOES THE COURT BEAR THE APPEARENCE OF IMPROPRIETY BY DRAWING FACTUAL CONCLUSION NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE IN REGARDS TO APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF DEFAMATION PER SE?

DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY MAKING A DETERMINATION WHICH DOES NOT CONSTRUE THE PLEADING IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE NONMOVING PARTY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Harold E. Blackwell, Jr., filed this action, *pro se*, on November 16, 2016, along with a motion to proceed *informa pauperis*. Appellant sued the respondent, Toby Woodard, for defamation *per se*.

Appellant notified the court on November 29, 2016, upon learning his motion to proceed *informa pauperis* had been denied by Judge Perry Gravely that he had once been a client of Judge Gravely's, and suggested Judge Gravely recuse himself. Of course, appellant copied opposing counsel, who at that time was M. Lee Daniels.

Subsequently, Respondent moved the Court, Judge Perry Gravely presiding, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) SCRCF for a grant of dismissal. By this time, Amy Miller Snyder was opposing counsel¹. The hearing on the motion was scheduled for March 22, 2017. Upon arriving at the courthouse, Appellant sat at the Appellant's table preparing for the hearing when Judge Gravely's clerk came in and informed Appellant Judge Gravely had recused himself because Appellant had once been a client.

Mr. Mulbry, Judge Gravely clerk, was confused as to why Appellant was appearing, obviously having not learn of the recusal until that moment.² Mr. Mulbry asked Appellant if he had called the court earlier in the day to remind the court of his prior relationship with Judge Gravely. Appellant informed him he had not. At that time, it was obvious the other party had communicated *ex parte* with the Court on the morning of the hearing when a removal of Judge Gravely would find this case on the roster of Judge Edward Miller. Undeniably, Respondent had a choice of Judge Gravely or Judge Miller and selected Judge Miller to hear the case.

¹ Ms. Snyder was named counsel on January 12, 2017.

² See email from Steve Lopez sent at 9:47 am on March 22, 2017.

As the record clearly indicates Judge Gravely did not, and has not, recused himself in this matter.

The hearing was rescheduled for April 11, 2017, Judge Edward Miller presiding. At that hearing Judge Miller granted Respondent's motion to seal and motion to stay discovery but refused to dismiss the case but did so without prejudice.

Ms. Snyder asked for permission to write the order³ apparently in light of appellant's *pro se* status and Judge Miller agreed.

Appellant aghast at the developments in the case, particularly Judge Miller's obvious bias⁴, moved the Court asking Judge Miller to recuse himself. Judge Miller denied the Appellant's motion on, July 20, 2017, in a hearing he scheduled sua sponte. Judge Miller ordered sanctions against Appellant sua sponte in the amount of some \$600, finding appellant had acted in bad faith. Appellant filed a motion to reconsider⁵ to which the Court has not offered a finding, or refuses to offer a finding. Appellant's motion to recuse is attached and included in the Designation of Matters.

Upon reading the order drafted by Ms. Snyder, which was laced with inaccuracies and downright lies, Appellant protested to the Court he had not been able to offer a proposed order. Judge Miller's clerk sent appellant an email stating appellant was free to offer his "motions and objections" version of events for the Court's consideration, which he did. Unsurprisingly, Judge

³ "Ms. Snyder: I want to make sure I understand your ruling because I'm gonna draft an order to this effect, I assume." (Transcript pg 31, line 21-24,) (R. p.273, line 21-24).

⁴ See Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion for the gruesome details.(R. p. 200)

⁵ "The Court: You say that this Dr. Fisk and Dr. Woodard, well, get affidavits from them to show that you have suffered some actual injury." Judge Miller had been informed Dr. Woodard was defendant's brother earlier in the hearing. (Transcript pg 31, lines 15-16) (R. p. 274, line 13-18)

Miller's order was Ms. Snyder's rendition verbatim and did not legitimize any of Appellant's objections. Appellant filed a Rule 59(e) SCRCPC motion to have Judge Miller reconsider his ruling staying discovery. The motion was denied on June 24, 2017.⁶

The hearing on Appellant's motion to amend his complaint was heard by Judge R. Scott Sprouse on August 4, 2017. On September 9, 2017, the court granted Appellant's motion to amend his complaint. Appellant asked opposing counsel if she had been served an amended complaint. She responded she had not in an email dated September 14, 2017. On September 15, 2017, appellant filed his amended complaint with clerk. Appellant's complaint was not exactly the same as the amended complaint attached to his motion to amend but contained no material changes.

Appellant realized he had alleged William Fisk and David Woodard had received defamatory emails concerning appellant in the proposed complaint. Upon reflection, and since opposing counsel said she had not been served an amended complaint, Appellant changed his complaint to allege Woodard had sent emails to William Fisk and David Woodard regarding Appellant and then in a subsequent allegation alleges Woodard's emails were defamatory. Appellant did this because he wanted Respondent to confirm he had sent the emails without having to admit they were defamatory.

Respondent moved to strike the new complaint and in the alternative be granted dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). Respondent did not answer the amended complaint. The hearing on the matter was held October 4, 2017, at the same time as Appellant's case against Miracle Hill Ministries, Inc. (2017-CP-23-3754).

On November 9, 2017, the court granted Respondent dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(c),

⁶Appellant did not contest Respondent's motion to seal.

Judgment of the Pleadings, and Appellant received notification via U.S. post on November 18, 2017. On November 28, 2017, Appellant hand delivered his Rule 59(e) motion to reconsider to the clerk's office and it was stamped at 4:53pm. He also hand delivered a copy to opposing counsel on the same day.

The motion to reconsider was pursuant to Rule 59(e), Rule 60(b)(1,2), SCRCP and included documentation of \$35,000 in damages due dental impairment which had developed since June 2015 resulting from stress and emotional tumult.

On December 11, 2017, Judge Stilwell denied appellant's motion to reconsider and appellant received notice via U.S. post on December 15, 2017.

On December 18, 2017, Appellant notified opposing counsel of this appeal by depositing the document in the U.S. mail.

On December 26, 2017, Appellant filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals his notice of appeal via U.S. post and it was clocked in the clerk's office December 29, 2017.

FACTS

Appellant became acquainted with Respondent by virtue of an approximately thirty (30) minute telephone conversation which occurred in late February or early March of 2015.

Appellant called Respondent in an effort to gain entrance, for his now ex wife, Anita Jane Miller, into the Miracle Hill program "Renewal" for the treatment of alcoholism.

The telephone call was a success and Appellant felt as though he had made a friend.

Miller, named Anita M. Blackwell at the time, was admitted to Renewal the Monday after the Thursday call to Respondent.

On the night of June 14, 2016, Appellant was using a false profile he had created on the website Facebook, under the name "Lynn Estes," to communicate with his wife.

Appellant intended to send his wife a message via "Facebook private messenger" technology she would think came from "Lynn Estes." Appellant deceived his wife in as he feared for her safety. She was again a practicing alcoholic to the best of Appellant's knowledge and, as subsequent events confirmed, Appellant was rightfully concern for her well being.

Instead of using Facebook instant messenger technology Appellant mistakenly posted the message, "*Hey, I think I met your ex husband Hal at a meeting*" on Miller's public board, or "news feed" in Facebook parlance, which Appellant is informed and believes was only visible to the "friends" of Ms. Miller, a group that included Respondent.

Respondent was watching Ms. Miller's page when the post became visible and he responded within 5 seconds of Appellant's referenced posting.

Respondent was under the impression Ms. Estes was an attractive single-mother in recovery for addiction and he identified himself as a teacher at Renewal who was also in recovery from addiction. Respondent, in every document addressing the matter produced in this

action, now claims he was a counselor at Renewal despite his claim to "Ms. Estes" that "*I am a teach at Renewal*" (Compl. Exhibit A, ¶ 39, black and white, plain as day) (R. p. 38, line 6).

Unsolicited, and while admittedly not knowing with whom he was communicating (Compl. Exhibit A, ¶39, "So we've never met, correct?") (R. p. 38, line 6), Respondent began to publish what subsequently admits is false (Compl. Exhibit A ¶133) (R. p.87, line 11-14), derogatory, and allegedly defamatory statements about the Appellant to "Ms. Estes."

Respondent lied when he stated to "Ms. Estes" that he knew Appellant had had a restraining order placed against him. The police incident report, Appellant's Exhibit C, clearly shows Appellant has not had a restraining order issued against him. (Compl., Exhibit C, see bottom of page 3) (R. p. 96, last line of "Narrative")

Respondent's publication to "Ms. Estes," which is Exhibit A of Appellant's complaint contained the following statements Appellant considers and alleges to be defamatory:

"Please be careful with Hal, there is a LOT more to the story than I suspect he has told you," (¶45). (R. p. 83, line 16)

"I mean no ill intent." (¶45) (R. p. 83, line 17).

"He was in his addiction at that time, so I don't want to hold it against him. But he made some threats and displayed some semi-dangerous behavior." (¶56) (R. p. 84, line 4).

"And you said a mouthful: He hides it well. He can be very charming and manipulative. Of course, most addicts can. Hopefully he is in recovery and living with integrity. Just be careful." (¶56) (r. p. 84, line 6).

"I DO know that he threatened to sue Miracle Hill because they wouldn't let him talk with Anita. I know that he showed up several times, even after hours, at Renewal. I do know that they had to get a restraining order on him." (¶92) (R. p. 85 lines 31-35).

Also Respondent admits he was lying in a subsequent Facebook conversation with "Lynn Estes", "*and for saying things I didn't know for certain.*" (¶133) (R. p. 87, line 12).

Respondent's statements referenced in the previous item, where he claims "I know" a fact, are false in that none of those claims are true.

Respondent, in Appellant's Exhibit A, accuses Appellant of criminal behavior which he did not commit.

Respondent's publication, "*I mean no ill intent*" (Exhibit A, ¶ 45) (R. p. 83, line 23), is an admission by Respondent as to his state of mind and, when coupled with his confession that what he did was wrong in subsequent communications (see Appellant's Exhibit C, ¶62) (R. p. 87 line 13), is evidence Respondent acted with malice.

Respondent published the words, "*I've never met Hal, so I'm not drawing any conclusions.*" (Exhibit A, ¶72) (R. p. 85, line 30-35) is a false statement in that Respondent draws conclusions throughout his publication of June 14, 2015.

Appellant alleges Respondent published electronic document(s) to Dr. William Fisk and his brother, David Woodard, both of Clemson, South Carolina, that were defamatory.

Opposing counsel makes much ado about the complaint's lack of information as to how Appellant knows Respondent sent defamatory emails to William Fisk and David Woodard. Appellant's therapist Ross Collins told Appellant about at least one email Respondent sent to Dr. Fisk, though he alleges there are more. Appellant noticed Dr. Woodard "unfriended" Appellant from his Facebook account and allegedly had Appellant's sign in user name and password disabled on Clemson Presbyterian Church's website. These instances happened within a short period of each other and since Dr. Woodard would have no reason to communicate with Miller, he feels safe in alleging Respondent's brother was acting on information provided by

Respondent.

Appellant alleges Respondent verbally and in written electronic communications told people Appellant faked a suicide attempt on December 9, 2015, as this is the story Miller has told to many people and Respondent obviously repeats Miller's accusations with wanton and reckless abandon.

Appellant did not fake a suicide attempt and has never faked a suicide attempt.

Respondent's statements referenced herein, taken individually and collectively, constitute evidence of Respondent's sinister intent to injure Appellant.

Appellant alleges Respondent was once an ordained pastor in the Presbyterian Church of America and, as such, would have received training in the handling of confidential, private, potentially damaging information of congregants. This training shows Respondent could foresee his conduct would injure Appellant yet he did it anyway.

Appellant alleges his complaint uses the Facebook conversation as circumstantial evidence and opposing counsel alleges Appellant uses the "conversation" as the sole basis for meeting the law's requirement that the defamatory material be published to a third party before being actionable. Opposing counsel makes no citation to substantiate her claim and cannot because no such allegation was ever made by Appellant.

Appellant alleges the police report is proof what Respondent said was repeated to someone who constitutes a third party (Compl. ¶97) (R. p. 94) by someone and since that person is identified only as an employee at Miracle Hill, as is Respondent, it is not unreasonable to believe the publisher on that occasion was Respondent also.

Respondent, a confessed serial adulterer, was allegedly inviting a woman to his AA meeting for nefarious purposes and was puffing himself up to impress her to those nefarious ends

by demonstrating the level of confidence that had been placed in him.

In a subsequent publication to a person he thought was a female named "Lynn Estes," after Appellant confronted Respondent regarding his outrageous publication on June 14, 2015, Respondent published these words: "*Lynn, I hope you are well. I received a disturbing fb message from Mr. Hal Blackwell today. I want to say that I was wrong for inserting myself into that situation, and for saying things I didn't know for certain. That was wrong of me, and I'm disappointed in myself. Having said that, I was under the impression that I was sharing a private conversation with you. I'm saddened that you would share that. I wish you the very best, however. I am still learning to mind my own business.*" (Exhibit A, ¶133) (R. p. 87, line 11-14).

In his first answer to Appellant's complaint, Respondent admitted he had published these defamatory statements to a third person. In his two answers to Appellant's complaint, Respondent has never claimed he published these defamatory statements to only "Lynn Estes."

In his two answers to Appellant's first complaint, Respondent claimed "truth" as an affirmative defense yet admits his statements were things he, "didn't know for certain" (Compl. Exhibit A, ¶133) (R p. 87, line 33) when he claimed, in capital letters no less, he did know. (Ibid, ¶92).

Appellant revealed himself as Lynn Estes to his wife at the time, Anita J. Miller (Blackwell), and assumed she told Respondent the true nature of "Lynn Estes" in July of 2016, long before he filed his original complaint on November 16, 2016. Respondent was not operating within his employment at any times referenced in the instant case as the first defamatory publication occurred at 9:53 pm and all other publication were in the late evening.

ARGUMENTS

I. DID THE COURT ERR IN HOLDING APPELLANT TO THE SAME PLEADING STANDARD AS THAT OF AN ATTORNEY?

Appellant's complaint is required to be afforded a less stringent reading than that of a lawyer. (*It was held that a pro se complaint requires a less stringent reading than one drafted by a lawyer per Justice Black in Conley v Gibson.*" Pucket v. Cox, 456 F. 2d 233 (1972) (6th Cir. USCA)) (R. p. 207, line 4). In determining if the Court erred in regards to its consideration of Appellant's *pro se* status, or lack thereof, the first logical step would be to determine if Appellant was afforded any such consideration.

Nowhere in the record does the court acknowledge Appellant appears *pro se*. In fact, in several instances the order indicates Appellant is being held to the same or even higher standard of pleading than a lawyer. (Infra)

Appellant avers a ready example of this high pleading standard is the Court's omission of the fact Appellant is entitled to the inferences of his allegations ("*The 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged and inferences therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory.*" Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995) (R. p. 204, lines 16-22) in its construction of the Legal Standard section of the Order.

II. DID THE COURT ERR BY USING RULE 12(C) AS THE LEGALS STANDARD?

Respondent moved the Court to grant dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) for failing to state a claim. ("in the alternative to Dismiss that Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.*" Resp. Motion to Dismiss, pg. 1, ¶2) (R. p. 147, line 1-4). The Court granted the dismissal of this action pursuant 12(c), a motion on the pleadings per the words and citation in the section "Legal Standard." ("*A judgment on the pleadings is proper*

when there is no issue of fact raised by the Complaint that would entitle Plaintiff to judgment if resolved in Plaintiff's favor." Order, pg. 2) (R. p. 2, line 10-13), citing Russell v. City of Columbia, a case decided pursuant to Rule 12(c). (Russell v. City of Columbia 390 SE 2d 463, 301 SC 117 (Ct. App.1989)) (R. p. 3, line 10-13)

A Rule 12(c) motion on the pleadings cannot be granted before the pleadings are closed and since Respondent has not answered either Amended Complaint, the pleadings in this case are not closed. ("Rule 7(a) provides that the pleadings are closed upon the filing of a complaint and answer, unless a counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party claim is interposed, in which event the filing of a reply, cross-claim answer, or third-party answer normally will mark the close of the pleadings.", citing 5A, Wright and Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1367 at 512-13 (1990)).

Clearly, the wrong legal standard was used in the Court's determinations throughout the Order. As the Court applied the wrong legal standard its Order is moot, or certainly not responsive to Respondent's request, and this case must be remanded.

DOES THE COURT BEAR THE APPEARANCE OF IMPROPRIETY IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT IN THE MATTERS FOR IT IN THIS CASE?

Cannon 3 of the Judicial Code of Conduct states in pertinent part, "(5) A judge shall perform judicial duties without bias or prejudice.". "A judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned when his factual findings are not supported by the record." Patel v. Patel, 359 SC 515, 532, 599 SE2d 114, 123 (2004) (R. 163, line 20).

The Court's order on page 5, second paragraph, second sentence, states, "The filed Amended Complaint contains allegations that the Defendant should be sued because of his "blatant refusal to adhere to the principles of Alcoholics Anonymous and the Bible." This quotation from Appellant's Amended Complaint is found in item 135 which states in its entirety,

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