**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**RECEIVED**

**JUL 10 2018**

---

**Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2017-CP-23-3754**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2017-002618**

---

**Harold Estes Blackwell, Jr.,**

**Appellant,**

**v.**

**Miracle Hill Ministries, Inc.,  
Anita Jane Miller (aka Anita M. Blackwell),  
And William Fisk,**

**Respondents.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MILLER**

---

**M. Lee Daniels, Jr.  
M. LEE DANIELS, JR., P.C.  
1200 Woodruff Road, Suite A-3  
Greenville, South Carolina 29607  
(864) 242-9484

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE ALLEGATIONS OF APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT AGAINST MILLER ARE INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO STATE A CLAIM OF OUTRAGE.**

In reviewing a motion to dismiss a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress or outrage under SCRCP 12(b)(6), the trial court must base its ruling upon the allegations contained on the face of the complaint, resolving any doubts in favor of appellant. The trial court must initially determine whether the allegations concerning respondent Miller's conduct would, if true, be extreme and outrageous enough to permit a recovery for emotional distress. If no circumstances exist where the conduct as alleged could be considered by reasonable persons as extreme and outrageous, the court should grant the motion as a matter of law. See Fleming v. Rose, 338 S.C. 524, 537, 526 S.E.2d 732, 739 (Ct. App. 2000), *reversed on other grounds*, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002).

Here, appellant specifically listed the conduct in his complaint which he believed was so extreme and outrageous as to allow him to recover for emotional distress.<sup>1</sup> Paragraph 215 of appellant's complaint alleges several "cruel acts" of Miller which he claims are "outrageous as a matter of law." [R. pp. 60-61] The list includes Miller refusing to communicate with him and/or

---

<sup>1</sup> In appellants' Initial Brief at page 35, he also assigns as error that the trial court failed to consider an additional act by respondent Miller as outrageous, which he describes as an attempt "to lure appellant into being arrested by the Oconee County sheriff." His cite to paragraph 114 [R. p. 38] of the complaint is inaccurate, and the only allegations mentioning the Oconee County Sheriff appear in paragraph 211. [R. p. 59] Paragraphs 209 and 210 [R. p. 59] contain allegations that Miller was in trouble and appellant offered to come get her, but that appellant texted her if she did not want him to come get her to text him and he would no longer try to help. In paragraph 211, he alleges he texted her asking for confirmation three times, then received a call from the Oconee County Sheriff's office that respondent Miller had reported to them he was harassing her. [R. p. 59] (His description of the incident on p.15 of his Initial Brief goes beyond the allegations that were before the trial court.) Appellant did not refer to this incident as a "cruel act" when stating his cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress against respondent Miller. [R. pp. 60-64] A report of harassment through text messages to a law enforcement agency and a request for assistance from them cannot be considered "outrageous" conduct on Miller's behalf.

explain her reason for silence, false statements made to the Miracle Hill staff of “domestic abuse”, failing to inform appellant of the passing of his father-in-law, convincing someone else (respondent Fisk) not to respect appellant, otherwise interfering with Fisk’s relationship with appellant, committing slander, “forcing” appellant to file for divorce from Miller, engaging in a civil conspiracy, and aiding and abetting the other defendants in breaching an alleged fiduciary duty to appellant.

The trial court considered and found that these “cruel acts” alleged against Miller in paragraph 215, even if true, would not constitute, as a matter of law, “conduct so extreme and outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency, [which] ... must be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized society,” Ford v. Hutson, 276 S.C. 157, 162, 276 S.E.2d 776, 778 (1981). [R. p. 3]

Cases finding outrageous conduct in South Carolina generally require “hostile or abusive encounters” or “coercive or oppressive conduct.” Fleming, 338 S.C. at 538, 526 S.E.2d at 739. In Ford, the defendant subjected the plaintiff to public browbeating, obscenities and threats, even entering her home and verbally attacking her in front of her guests. Ford, 276 S.C. at 157, 276 S.E.2d at 776. In McSwain v. Shei, 304 S.C. 25, 402 S.E.2d 890 (1991), the plaintiff was forced to perform exercises in front of other employees that exposed her incontinence problem.

None of that type of conduct is alleged in paragraph 215. In fact, none of the “cruel acts” alleged have ever been cited in a reported case in South Carolina as the kind of act(s) which would meet the standard set out in the Ford case. In Fleming, 338 S.C. at 538, 526 S.E.2d at 739, the tort of libel was not sufficiently outrageous conduct to support a claim for outrage. See also Sabb v. SC State University, 350 S.C. 416, 567 S.E.2d 231 (2002), Shipman v. Glenn, 314 S.C. 327, 443 S.E.2d 921 (Ct. App. 1994) and Wright v. Sparrow, 298 S.C. 469, 381 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 1989).

Appellant alleges that respondent Miller's refusal to communicate or explain the reason for her silence is a form of outrageous conduct, yet her refusal to respond and/or silence (even refusing to communicate a loved one's passing) cannot constitute an "encounter", much less a hostile or abusive one. Convincing others to lose respect for appellant by communications to them, rather than by communications to appellant, even if the comments rose to the level of defamation, cannot constitute coercive or oppressive conduct of the type which is recognized by South Carolina law as supporting a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress.<sup>2</sup> Finally, appellant alleges that being "forced" to file for divorce against respondent Miller was a form of outrageous conduct. While there is no doubt that the divorce action was an emotional time for both participants, since Respondent Miller was refusing to communicate to appellant during the time period prior to the divorce filing, she could have only "forced" him to file by her silence, which again, is not a form of outrageous conduct.

Even though the acts alleged might be considered "cruel" by appellant, that alone is not sufficient to meet the legal standard for outrage. They must also be extreme and outrageous. The tort of outrage is not a "panacea for wounded feelings." Todd v. Farm Bur. Mut. Ins. Co., 283 S.C. 155, 171, 321 S.E.2d 602, 611 (Ct. App. 1984), *rev'd on other grounds*, 287 S.C. 190, 336 S.E.2d 472 (1985).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant also alleged several of his other causes of action as "outrageous" conduct. While the same rationale with respect to defamation should apply to these causes of action as well (none of which involve hostile, abusive, coercive or oppressive conduct) it should also be noted that these causes of action were also dismissed by the trial court, and appellant does not take issue with those dismissals.

<sup>3</sup> In addition, the emotional distress appellant claims to have suffered must be so severe that "no reasonable person could be expected to endure it." Ford, 276 S.C. at 162, 276 S.E.2d at 778. The "cruel acts" alleged by Appellant, silence, lack of explanation, false statements, lack of respect, lack of courtesy, marital discord and divorce, unfortunately occur regularly in our society, but many people do endure them, and they are not of the type which a reasonable person could not be expected to endure.

**II. THE ALLEGATIONS OF APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT ARE NOT SUFFICIENT TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DEFAMATION AGAINST MILLER.**

**a. The Allegations of Defamation.**

Appellant alleges four occasions of defamation of his character by respondent Miller in his complaint: (1) In paragraph 243 [R. p. 80], it is alleged that Miller provided defamatory information concerning appellant to the police, which was recorded by an officer in a police report attached to the complaint as Exhibit B<sup>4</sup> [R. p. 80. No Exhibit B or D included in the Record]<sup>5</sup>; (2) In paragraph 244, it is alleged Miller slandered appellant by telling the Clemson Police appellant suffered from a narcissistic personality disorder, in a call to ask for a welfare check on him on December 9, 2015, after receiving a message from him that indicated he was going to commit suicide [R. p. 80]; (3) In paragraph 245, it is alleged Miller defamed appellant on many occasions<sup>6</sup> by making utterances and writings that he committed domestic abuse against her, which he characterizes as a crime [R. p. 81]<sup>7</sup>; and (4) In paragraph 246, Miller falsely accused him of

---

<sup>4</sup> Exhibit B to the Complaint is a section from Miracle Hill's Renewal Handbook. The police report is attached to the complaint as Exhibit D.

<sup>5</sup> On pp. 35-36 of his Initial Brief, appellant does not argue that the allegations of the complaint with regard to Miller's statements to the Oconee County Sheriff alleged in paragraph 211 [R. p. 59] constitute slander, but he does argue that her alleged actions in December of 2016 demonstrate her bad faith in the comments she is alleged to have made to police in July 2015, which were recorded in the police report. Miller's action of complaining to the Sheriff after receiving repeated texts do not demonstrate bad faith and the complaint contains no allegations connecting these two events. The police report attached to the complaint indicates Blackwell had been asked not to visit anymore but he had come in order to see his wife, and that was the reason the police had been called. That allegation is also not susceptible of bad faith.

<sup>6</sup> Appellant claims in his Initial Brief on p. 36 that he also alleged that Miller slandered him to Amy Malik, a former co-worker, however, paragraphs 21 and 22 of the complaint to which he cites contain no allegations of any statements made by Miller. [R. p. 22]

<sup>7</sup> Appellant also seeks to have the Court consider additional evidence of defamation not alleged in or attached to the complaint in this matter by attaching several appendices to his Initial Brief which contain evidentiary material. The Court should not consider these materials which are outside the pleadings and should not be a part of the record in this matter. They were not considered by the trial court. On p. 36 of appellant's Initial Brief, he claims Appendices I and III apply to his claims against Miller. [His Appendix III is also contained in the Record at pp. 187-189, but should not be considered by the Court.]

adultery in her divorce proceedings [R. p. 81]. Finally, Appellant alleges in paragraph 249 that Miller committed defamation *per se* with regard to appellant [R. p. 81].

**b. Miller's Alleged Statements to Police Officers Do Not Tend to Defame Appellant.**

There are four essential elements to a defamation claim: (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning another person; (2) an unprivileged communication of the statement to a third party; (3) fault on the part of the publisher; and (4) special harm to the Appellant's reputation from the statement, or if the defamatory statement falls into the categories of *per se* defamation recognized in South Carolina, then special harm can be presumed. See Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 508, 506 S.E.2d 497, 501 (1998). South Carolina currently recognizes only five types of statements as slander *per se*: (1) adultery, (2) unchastity, (3) commission of a crime of moral turpitude, (4) contraction of a loathsome disease, or (5) unfitness for one's business or profession. See Holtzscheiter, 332 S.C. at 522-26, 506 S.E.2d at 510. Unless the slander is *per se*, the court should examine the circumstances alleged to determine whether the statement can reasonably be said to have a defamatory meaning. In Fleming, 338 S.C. at 533, 526 S.E.2d at 738, the Court of Appeals held that "A communication is defamatory if it tends to harm the reputation of another or to lower him in the estimation of the community or to deter third persons from associating or dealing with him.", *citing* Holtzscheiter, 332 S.C. at 510, 506 S.E.2d at 502.

The trial court examined the allegations regarding oral statements to police officers on the two occasions alleged to determine if the statements as alleged could have a defamatory meaning that could damage the reputation of the appellant. With respect to the allegations of paragraph 243 [R. p. 80], appellant only alleged generally that Miller "provided defamatory information" recounted in a police report. Since Miller did not author the report, but it only recorded her oral statements,

the allegation would have to be considered as an allegation of slander. The only section of the report indicating a possible conversation between the police and Miller is in the Supplemental Report, fifth paragraph. [Complaint at Exhibit D, not included in the Record] This paragraph does not contain any statements which could be considered slander *per se* relating to appellant, nor would any of the statements recorded in that paragraph tend to harm appellant's reputation, lower him in the estimation of the community, or deter others from associating or dealing with appellant. Appellant does not provide any additional allegations indicating other defamatory information on this occasion outside of the police report. Therefore, the trial court concluded that the complaint did not allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for defamation on this occasion. [Record, p. 9]

The second incident involving police officers is alleged in paragraph 244, where appellant alleges specifically that Miller told the Clemson police appellant suffered from narcissistic personality disorder. [R. p. 80] The trial court also reviewed this allegation and found this statement to police not defamatory. [R. pp. 9-10]<sup>8</sup>

In addition to appellant's failure to allege any statement which could be considered defamatory to any of the police officers with whom Miller is alleged to have had contact, the complaint does not allege any facts showing special harm to appellant's reputation with respect to either of these two occasions. The trial court found that an allegation of special harm to appellant's reputation was essential to stating a valid cause of action, since neither of these two alleged statements could be considered slander *per se*, as that term has been defined in South Carolina. [R. p.11]

---

<sup>8</sup> Narcissistic personality disorder has not been found to be a loathsome disease (one of the five types of slander *per se* recognized in South Carolina) like gonorrhea or syphilis.

**c. Miller's Alleged Statements to Police Were Privileged.**

The trial court also found that the alleged statements to police officers were covered by a conditional privilege on both occasions. [R. p. 9] In Conwell v. Spur Oil Co. of Western South Carolina, 270 S.C. 170, 178, 125 S.E.2d 270 (1962), the court held that communications made in good faith on a subject matter where the persons involved in the communication share a common interest are privileged, even though the communication may otherwise be actionable if no privilege were involved, even where the common interest is not a legal one, but only a moral or social one. Each of these two alleged defamatory statements were allegedly made to a police officer by Miller concerning her husband, on one occasion because he was possibly stalking her, and on the other occasion because she was concerned he may have attempted to commit suicide. Both meet the requirements for a conditional privilege as set out in Conwell. An unprivileged communication to a third party is an essential element of the tort of defamation, yet appellant does not allege in his complaint that the communication was not privileged, or that the privilege was exceeded on either of those occasions.

**d. The General Allegations in Appellant's Complaint do not Allege Facts Sufficient to Constitute a Cause of Action for Defamation.**

The third allegation of defamation appears in paragraph 245, wherein appellant accuses Miller of defaming him on many unspecified occasions, to many unspecified individuals by communicating that he committed "domestic abuse" against her, which he characterizes as an allegation of criminal behavior. [R. p. 81] The complaint also alleges in paragraph 24 that Miller had falsely accused appellant of "domestic abuse" to unidentified coworkers. [R. p. 22]

While South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a) requires only "a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief..." facts are required, not just bare

allegations. In order for Miller to fairly meet the allegations in this context, the appellant must identify, to the extent he can, the defamatory statement, to whom the defamation was published, as well as when it was published. Under Rule 9(h), he does not have to plead circumstances showing how the defamation applies to him, but he must supply some facts concerning what was said, to who, and when. The trial Court found that appellant's complaint does not meet that standard. [R. p. 10]

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